# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

AIDAN MING-HO LEUNG, a minor by and through his Guardian ad Litem NANCY LEUNG,

Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant.

JUL 11 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

VS.

### VERDUGO HILLS HOSPITAL, a California Corporation, et al.

Defendants, Appellants and Cross-Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 4, CASE NO. B204908 HON. LAURA A. MATZ, JUDGE, L.A.S.C. NO. BC343985

## **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **ESNER, CHANG & BOYER**

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether, as the Court of Appeal in this case expressly recognized, review is needed because the time has come for this Court to "fully repudiate" the antiquated and nonsensical common law "release-of-one-release-of-all" rule that was last applied by this Court in 1932, and has since been repeatedly criticized and limited by this Court (as well as Courts of Appeal)? As the Court of Appeal recognized, the release rule was based on a "misconception" equating a release with a full satisfaction and which gave rise to the contrivance of covenants not to sue to bypass the harsh and unintended consequences of the rule. (Repudiation of that nonsensical rule is particularly appropriate here since its application (as the Court of Appeal in this case concluded was necessary solely because of stare decisis) served to largely deprive plaintiff Aidan Leung of the recovery needed for his care and treatment due to the horrendous injuries he suffered as a result of the defendant hospital's medical negligence).
- 2. Whether, upon the abolition of the release rule, the non settling defendant should only be entitled to a pro tanto (dollar-for-dollar) reduction of the judgment due to the settlement consistent with the application of joint and several liability and just as with every other type of offset under California law?

#### INTRODUCTION

This Court granted review to consider whether the time has come to dispense with the antiquated and heavily criticized release-of-one-release-of-all rule which the Court of Appeal in this case felt constrained to reluctantly apply. As explained, there is no justification for the perpetuation of a rule which serves to arbitrarily deprive injured parties of the opportunity to be made whole and which provides torfeasors who elect not to settle an unwarranted and unjustified windfall.

Plaintiff Aidan Leung must suffer through life with severe brain damage caused by a condition called kernicterus resulting from elevated bilirubin (which is often signified by jaundice). This is made even more tragic because kernicterus can be easily avoided if the elevated bilirubin is detected in time before it enters a newborn's brain. Although the Verdugo Hills Hospital had information which, if provided to Aidan's parents, would have alerted them their son was at such great risk, it did not pass on that information to them, or to the Hospital's staff caring for Aidan or to Aidan's treating physician. Rather, the Hospital provided Aidan's parents with outdated information misleading them to believe that Aidan's warning signs were actually nothing to worry about.

Aidan brought suit against the Hospital and his treating pediatrician (Dr. Nishibayashi). Before trial, Aidan and Dr. Nishibayashi agreed to a settlement under which Dr. Nishibayashi would pay the limits of his malpractice insurance, \$1 million, and

participate at a trial in which the jury would allocate the negligence, if any, of the Hospital and Dr. Nishibayashi and set the amount of damages. In exchange, Aidan would give Dr. Nishibayashi and his corporation a release of liability. This settlement was conditioned upon a finding that it was in "good faith" under Code of Civil Procedure sections 877 and 877.6. The trial court denied the motion.

The parties decided to still proceed with the settlement subject to the trial court's approval of a minor's compromise. Trial then commenced and Dr. Nishibayashi, represented by counsel, fully participated defending against Aidan's negligence claims. The jury then reached a verdict for Aidan apportioning fault as follows: Dr. Nishibayashi, 55 percent; the Hospital, 40 percent; and the Leungs, 5 percent. Following this trial, the court approved the minor's compromise and only then the settlement was consummated.

The Hospital appealed and argued among other things that because Aidan and the Doctor entered into a release without obtaining a "good faith" finding under section 877, under the common law "release-of-one-release-of-all" rule, that release served to exonerate the Hospital for its joint and several liability for Aidan's injuries. Aidan argued that this antiquated rule has been disreputed and no longer represented California law, especially in the aftermath of California's adoption of comparative fault and also because the subject settlement was consummated after a trial during which the jury apportioned fault.

The Court of Appeal "agree[d] with many of Aidan's arguments," explaining that the release rule "can create unintended and inequitable results, resulting in the plaintiff receiving an inadequate settlement from a defendant of modest means and unintentionally releasing another culpable tortfeasor with no opportunity to receive additional compensation from that tortfeasor. The rationale of the release rule -- preventing a plaintiff's double recovery -- has largely been eviscerated by California's modification of the joint and several liability rule to require allocation of non-economic damages based on each tortfeasor's percentage of fault (Civ. Code, § 1431.2, subd. (a); see *Dafonte v. Up-Right, Inc.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593, 603), and by the adoption of the right of partial indemnity on a comparative fault basis among multiple tortfeasors (*American Motorcycle*, *supra*, 20 Cal.3d at p. 598)." (Opinion pp. 42.)

However, the Court of Appeal felt constrained to nevertheless continue to apply the release rule because this Court has never directly repudiated that rule. As explained

<sup>&#</sup>x27;See Opinion pp. 42-43 ["[O]ur role as an intermediate appellate court in a case such as this is not to disregard controlling Supreme Court precedent, or to purport to find in sections 877 and 877.6 an implicit abrogation of that precedent with respect to nongood faith settlements in violation of the statutory language. Rather, our role is to 'defer[] to [the California Supreme Court] for any reconsideration of the doctrine.' (Rodriguez v. Bethlehem Steel Corp. (1974) 12 Cal.3d 382, 388.) We do so here, and urge the California Supreme Court to repudiate the release rule once and for all.]; see also Opinion p. 4 ["we urge the California Supreme Court to grant review, conclusively abandon the release rule, and fashion a new common law rule concerning the effect of a non-good faith settlement on a non-settling tortfeasor's liability"]; p. 28 ["we urge the California Supreme Court to grant review, abandon the release rule, and fashion a new common law rule concerning the effect of a non-good faith settlement on a non-settling tortfeasor's liability"].) In reaching this conclusion, the Court recognized that one other

below there is no rationale basis for the perpetuation of the release rule and therefore the rule should now be directly repudiated by this Court.

As further, explained the Court should reinforce that under settled California law, following a settlement, the non-settling defendant is only entitled to a pro tonto offset based on the amount of the settlement attributable to the settling defendant's joint and several liability to the plaintiff. Then, absent a good faith determination under Code of Civil Procedure section 877, the non-settling defendant would be able to seek indemnity from the settling defendant for payments to the plaintiff in excess of the non-settling defendant's share of liability as found by the jury.

Contrary to the Hospital's position, the non-settling defendant is not entitled to a pro rata offset based upon the proportion of the settling defendant's liability as found by the jury. Such a rule would mean that the plaintiff is deprived of full compensation for his or her injuries and would afford an unwarranted windfall to the non-settling defendant who would avoid its full obligations under the verdict for the plaintiff's economic injuries.

published decision had reached a contrary result (*River Garden Farms, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1972) 26 Cal.App.3d 986), but declined to follow it. (Opinion p. 41.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

A national alert issued by the JCAHO ("Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations") just two years before Aidan's birth warned defendant Verdugo Hills Hospital ("the Hospital") (and others) to be vigilant about the remergence of kernicterus. (This re-emergence of kernicterus which had all but disappeared in this country was the result of the proliferation of so-called "drive-through" deliveries where infants and their mothers are discharged soon after birth.) But the Hospital failed to pass that alert on to its staff, or its doctors or its patients. (Opinion pp. 13-14.)

Rather, the Hospital continued providing patients with an outdated booklet which it characterized as "the bible," telling the parents that jaundice in newborns is common and nothing to worry about. Thus, when Aidan was born with six of the nine risk factors placing him at a high risk of developing kernicterus and in turn permanent brain damage (RT 1843-1844, 2126, 3343), Aidan's parents were totally unaware their son was at such grave risk.

The Hospital's "bible" downplayed the risk factors and potential danger of kernicterus and in essence affirmatively told the Leungs not to worry about the many risk factors that the JCAHO Alert specifically warned hospitals to educate parents their newborns could suffer brain damage from, and upon which the Leungs, indisputably,

specifically relied in not bringing Aidan in to the hospital. (RT 1298, 1849-1851, 2423-2424, 2468-2469, 2472-2473, Ex. 256.) Thus, for example, the Hospital's self-proclaimed "bible" told the Leungs:

Your baby's head and face may be bruised or red from the birth; this will heal in a few days and is not dangerous to your baby.

(Ex. 256-4.) The "bible" also informed the Leungs:

Jaundice is a condition to which the skin or eyes have a yellowish tone.

Many babies have some jaundice during their first week. It often appears or gets worse on the third or fourth day. Call your baby's care provider if jaundice doesn't clear up in a few days.

 $(Ex. 256-4.)^2$ 

The "bible" contains a section specifically dealing with jaundice called "Jaundice in Newborn Babies," and begins by assuring parents "it often disappears within a week," "in most instances, the jaundice is so mild that it can be ignored," and "it usually will disappear without treatment." (Ex. 256-6.) The "bible" concludes its section on jaundice with the following emphasis, headed in bold, italicized type:

#### Remember:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Thus, when, two days after Aidan's birth, on Thursday March 27, the Leungs noticed Aidan turned yellow, the Leungs turned to the "bible," read the section about jaundice, and trusted and relied upon this information in "deciding how [we] were going to deal with Aidan's jaundice" and in deciding to "wait a few days" to see if the jaundice would clear up like the "bible" said. (RT 1292-1294, 1659-1661.)

- Jaundice in newborn babies is very common.
- In most instances, the condition is normal, harmless, and lasts for only a short time.
- When treatment is necessary, the methods are safe and effective in virtually all cases.

(Ex. 256-7.) In addition, the Hospital provided the Leungs with another pamphlet stating: "In mild cases of physiologic jaundice, little or no treatment is usually necessary.

Ordinarily physiologic jaundice is temporary and harmless to your baby and will have no lasting effects on the future health and development." (AA 1254-1262 [exhibit 454].)

Nancy Leung read and relied upon this material as well. (RT 2467-2468.)

Despite the fact Aidan was a high-risk newborn, the Hospital discharged Aidan less than 24 hours after birth, at 11:50 a.m. the following day Tuesday March 25 (RT 1285, 1350, 1651). Moreover, the Hospital arranged for a follow-up appointment (which should have been one to two days later) not to take place until six days later, the following Monday March 31. (RT 1326-1327, 1652-1653.)

At home, the Leungs followed the advice in the "bible," as instructed by the Hospital. On Thursday March 27, when the Leungs observed Aidan's eyes turn yellowish, they turned to the "bible," which said among other things it is a common condition called jaundice, it is not dangerous, and it normally goes away on its own after a few days. (RT 1294-1296, Ex. 256-4, -6, -7.) The Leungs relied on this written advice

not to be concerned, and spoke briefly with Dr. Nishibayashi's office which echoed the Hospital's advice, suggested Aidan be placed near sunlight, and advised there was no need to bring Aidan in earlier than the scheduled Monday March 31 follow-up appointment. (RT 1298, 1655-1656, 1659-1661.) The Leungs thus put Aidan near a window and some sunlight, did not think Aidan was in any danger, and waited. (RT 1298-1299, 1329, 1659-1660.)

Aidan's condition did not go away. Unbeknownst to the Leungs, for the next few days, the bilirubin levels in Aidan severely increased and by late Saturday night March 29, Aidan became lethargic, indicating (as the Leungs would later learn) the bilirubin was attacking his brain. (RT 1300-1301, 1661-1662, 1905, 2129-2130, 2141-2142.) During the early hours of that Sunday morning, the Leungs called their doctor's answering service, spoke to the physician on call, and were told to immediately bring Aidan in to the emergency room at Huntington Memorial Hospital. (RT 1301, 1662-1663.) The Leungs did so, and were immediately, shockingly, told by the emergency staff Aidan's life was in danger. (RT 1305, 1663, 1667.) Aidan received an emergency blood transfusion, and for the next several weeks, the Leungs continued to heed every bit of advice given them by the medical experts. (RT 1306-1312, 1648-1650, 1667-1672, 1969-1971.) But it was too late – the kernicterus had caused Aidan permanent, severe brain damage. (RT 1905, 2117-2118.)

Before trial, Aidan entered a written "Settlement Agreement and Release" with Dr. Nishibayashi, under which Dr. Nishibayashi would pay the limit of his malpractice insurance policy, \$1 million, pursuant to a specified payment schedule during Aidan's life, and would participate as a defendant in the trial. In exchange, Aidan would release Dr. Nishibayashi and his professional corporation from all claims. The settlement document expressly excludes the Hospital: "Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Settlement Agreement release and discharge shall not apply to Verdugo Hills Hospital and shall not settle or release any claims that Plaintiff has or may have against Verdugo Hills Hospital." (AA 899.)

The settlement was conditioned on the court approving a minor's compromise for Aidan, and on the court finding the settlement to be in good faith under sections 877 and 877.6. It also provided that the release and discharge of Dr. Nishibayashi did not apply to the Hospital. Dr. Nishibayashi moved for a declaration of good faith settlement. The trial court denied the motion. (Opinion pp. 28-29.)

Rather than abandoning the settlement, Aidan and Dr. Nishibayashi elected to pursue it, and amended their agreement to delete the condition requiring the court to declare the settlement to be in good faith, though the condition requiring approval of the minor's compromise remained. On May 9, 2007, Aidan filed a petition to approve the compromise of his claim against Dr. Nishibayashi. On May 22, 2007, shortly before trial, with the consent of Aidan's counsel, the court continued the hearing on the petition in

order to have it reviewed by a staff attorney in the probate department. The court stated that a new date for hearing on the petition would be scheduled after the review was complete. (Opinion p. 29.)

Meanwhile, the trial occurred, and the jury returned its verdict on July 2, 2007, awarding damages to Aidan of \$96,410,376, consisting of \$78,376 for past medicals, \$82,782,000 for future medicals (with a present cash value of \$14 million), \$13.3 million for future lost earnings (with a present cash value of \$1,154,000) and general damages of \$250,000. At the time judgment was entered, the total present value of the judgment, including allowable costs and interest, was \$14,893.27. (AA Tab 88, p. 247.) The jury apportioned liability finding Dr. Nishibayashi 55 percent negligent and the Hospital 40 percent. (AA 1455; Opinion p. 29.)

On July 20, 2007, after the court informed Aidan's attorney of recommendations for changes to the proposed special needs trust, Aidan filed a revised petition which was heard on September 21, 2007. (Opinion p. 29.)

Aidan's counsel argued that the settlement was in Aidan's best interests because although Dr. Nishibayashi was 55 percent liable for the judgment, Aidan's parents had determined that it was economically unfeasible to try to obtain more from him than the \$1 million settlement, and it was in Aidan's interests to receive the settlement funds immediately in order to ensure his continuing care. Further, according to Aidan's attorney, the Hospital remained jointly and severally liable for the entire amount of

economic damages in the judgment. Thus, regardless of the settlement, Aidan could collect the full sum of economic damages from the Hospital alone. (AA 1729-1734.) For his part, Dr. Nishibayashi's counsel argued that the Hospital could seek equitable indemnity from Dr. Nishibayashi for amounts it paid in excess of its percentage share of the judgment. (AA 1748, 1898; Opinion pp. 29-30.)

The Hospital did not oppose the petition, and did not initially argue that the common law release rule would extinguish the Hospital's joint and several liability for Aidan's economic damages. Rather, it argued that if the petition were approved and Aidan settled with Dr. Nishibayashi, then under the terms of the settlement, the Hospital would be relieved of its joint liability for Dr. Nishibayashi's 55 percent share of the economic damages. (AA 1739-1744; Opinion p. 30.)

After argument, the court granted the petition to approve the minor's compromise, but referred the revised plan for a special needs trust to the probate department for further review. The order approving the minor's compromise was not signed and entered until October 12, 2007. (AA 2075-2076, 2211; Opinion p. 30.)

In the meantime, the parties filed competing versions of the judgment. As part of that debate, the Hospital filed objections to the judgment which invoked the common law release rule and argued that the settlement with and release of Dr. Nishibayashi released the Hospital's joint liability for Aidan's economic damages, leaving only the Hospital's several liability for its proportionate share of the \$250,000 in noneconomic damages.

Alternatively, the Hospital argued that its liability was reduced (as reflected in the Rest.3d Torts, § 16) to its comparative share of economic damages -- 40 percent. (AA 1990-1992.) The court rejected the arguments, finding that the common law release rule was not "the current state of the law," and noting that "it would be nice to have a court of appeal opinion on it and maybe this is the case that is going to do it. And I would urge you to go find out." (2 RT 910-911.) The court entered judgment on November 2, 2007. (AA 2472; Opinion pp. 30-21.)

The Hospital then moved to vacate the judgment, reiterating its argument that Aidan's settlement with and release of Dr. Nishibayashi released the Hospital's joint and several liability for Aidan's economic damages. (AA 2559-2564.) The court denied the motion. (AA 3737; Opinion p. 31.)

The Hospital appealed. In the published portion of its opinion the Court of Appeal concluded that it was bound by this Court's decisions to rule that Aidan's release of Dr. Nishibayashi served to also release the Hospital from its joint and several liability to Aidan. The Court of Appeal urged this Court to grant review and "to repudiate the release rule once and for all." (Opinion pp. 42-43.) If the Court's opinion is allowed to stand, Aidan will be limited to recovering only his \$250,000 in non-economic damages from the Hospital. In the unpublished portion of its opinion the Court rejected the Hospital's contentions that there was not substantial evidence of causation and that the trial court incorrectly instructed and polled the jury. (Opinion pp. 45-64.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

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