# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AIDAN LEUNG by and through his Guardian ad Litem NANCY LEUNG

Plaintiff, Appellant and Respondent

vs.

VERDUGO HILLS HOSPITAL

Defendant, Appellant and Respondent

B204908

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. BC343985)



### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four

SEP 98 2011

Case No. B204908

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC343985

Honorable Laura A, Matz

#### **THOMAS & THOMAS, LLP**

Michael Thomas, State Bar No. 41597 Maureen F. Thomas, State Bar No. 105194 425 W. Broadway, Suite 213

> Glendale, California 91204 Telephone: (818) 500-4800 Facsimile: (818) 500-4822

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

Plaintiff has argued that "payable" should be read as past tense because later the statute allows a "plaintiff [to] introduce evidence of any amount which the plaintiff has paid or contributed to secure his right to any insurance benefits . . . ." (Civ. Code, § 3333.1, subd. (a).) At the same time, the statute defines the relevant collateral sources as any insurance, contract, or agreement "to provide, pay for, or reimburse" – future tense – medical expenses. (*Ibid.*)

The simple answer is that where "a statute is amenable to two alternative interpretations, the one that leads to the more reasonable result will be followed." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) Reasonably read, a mitigating provision does not negate the fundamental principle; i.e., the "premiums paid" mitigating provision should not trump "payable's" plain future meaning. Rather, the referenced offsetting premiums "paid" should be read to allow evidence as to both past *and* future insurance premiums. (See *Plumbing etc. Employers Council v.* 

Quillin (1976) 64 Cal.App.3d 215, 224-225 [construing "may" to mean "must" where necessary to reasonable construction of statute].)

## B. Section 3333.1's History And Underlying Purpose Make Clear That The Statute Applies To Future Collateral Source Benefits.

The trial court's overly restrictive construction runs into an even more fundamental problem. It contravenes the statute's context and purpose. The "fundamental task is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute." (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83; accord, Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 478, 487; In re Marriage of Harris (2004) 34 Cal.4th 210, 221; Elsner v. Uveges (2004) 34 Cal.4th 915, 927; see Code Civ. Proc., § 1859 ["In the construction of a statute the intention of the Legislature, . . . is to be pursued, if possible . . ."].)

Even plain statutory language must yield to evident statutory purpose. (Silver v. Brown (1966) 63 Cal.2d 841, 845; accord, County of Sacramento v. Hickman (1967) 66 Cal.2d 841, 849, fn. 6.) "The courts resist blind obedience to the putative "plain meaning" of a statutory phrase where literal interpretation would defeat the Legislature's central objective." (Kramer v. Intuit Inc. (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 574, 579, quoting Leslie Salt Co. v. San Francisco Bay Conservation etc. Com. (1984) 153 Cal.App.3d 605, 614; People ex rel. Flournoy v. Yellow Cab Co. (1973) 31 Cal.App.3d 41, 45.) The law "turn[s] to other sources for insight, including the provision's statutory context, its legislative history,

and 'the human problems the Legislature sought to address' . . . examining the [statutory] scheme as a whole, [to] better understand the consequences of a particular interpretation, avoid absurd or unreasonable results, and select the interpretation most consonant with the Legislature's overarching goals." (*Tonya M. v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 836, 844-845.)

Section 3333.1 is part of MICRA. (Delaney v. Baker (1999) 20 Cal.4th 23, 34.) MICRA "reflects a strong public policy to contain the costs of malpractice insurance by controlling or redistributing liability for damages, thereby maximizing the availability of medical services to meet the state's health care needs." (Western Steamship Lines, Inc. v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital (1994) 8 Cal.4th 100, 112.) The policy judgment in section 3333.1, specifically, and MICRA generally, is clear. The Legislature intended to reduce medical tort insurance costs by shifting medical care costs from professional liability insurers to healthcare insurers. finding it "preferable to require the victim's health or workers' compensation insurer to absorb some of the loss" and by eliminating plaintiffs' double recovery when collateral sources were not reimbursed. (See Barme v. Wood (1984) 37 Cal.3d 174, 179-181 & fn. 5; Fein v. Permanente Medical Group (1985) 38 Cal.3d 137, 166-167; Hernandez v. California Hospital Medical Center (2000) 78 Cal. App. 4th 498, 505-506.) Indeed, the trial court's ruling placed plaintiff in a better position than even in a non-MICRA case where future damages would be limited to the amounts to be actually paid, including by health insurers. (See *Howell v.* Hamilton Meats & Provisions Inc. (2011) 52 Cal.4th 541 [plaintiff entitled

to recover as damages only the amounts actually paid for medical services, including at discounted health insurer rates, if applicable].)

The concerns underlying MICRA clearly include liability for *future* damages. (Code Civ. Proc., § 667.7 [periodic payment judgments for future medical expenses; future payments cease if plaintiff dies prematurely].) It is absurd to think the Legislature, concerned about future damages, would limit section 3333.1's collateral source rule modification to past damages. Future medical expenses are often (as here) the lion's share of a judgment. It is unthinkable that the same Legislature that enacted section 667.7 constraining judgments for future damages intended to radically remake the collateral source rule in medical tort actions only as to past damages. Such a reading would be contrary to the Legislature's express intent to reallocate responsibility from professional liability insurers to health insurers and to prevent double recoveries. (Cf. Western Steamship, supra, 8 Cal.4th at p. 112 [failing to apply Civil Code section 3333.2 to indemnity actions would undermine MICRA goal of controlling professional liability insurance costs].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Under plaintiff's view, either future insurers have lien rights against the judgment or plaintiffs obtain a double recovery. Disallowing health insurer reimbursement of future medical payments not introduced into evidence would violate section 3333.1, subdivision (b). If not, plaintiff obtains exactly the sort of "double recovery" that section 3333.1 was intended to eliminate (AOB 69, citing *Hernandez v. California Hospital Medical Center*, *supra*, 78 Cal.App.4th at pp. 505-506 and *Fein v. Permanente Medical Group*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at pp. 166-167) and which plaintiff told the jury would not happen (8 Aug.RT 2805; 12 Aug.RT 4384).

## C. Section 3333.1 Has Consistently Been Read As Applying To Future Damages.

Case law and commentary *consistently* view section 3333.1 as applying to *future* amounts payable.

- Fein v. Permanente Medical Group, supra, 38 Cal.3d at pp. 146, 165 fn. 21: Affirming section 3333.1's constitutionality in context of judgment directing the "defendant to pay the first \$63,000 of any future medical expenses not covered by medical insurance"; "[I]f anything, the trial court may have given plaintiff more than he was entitled to, since it did not reduce the jury's \$63,000 award by the collateral source benefits plaintiff was [merely] likely to receive." (Emphasis added.)
- Graham v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 499, 502, 505-506: Annulling Worker's Compensation Appeals Board award crediting employer for "future workers' compensation payments" (emphasis added) to an employee who settled a medical tort claim for exacerbating the employee's workplace injury. Section 3333.1 necessarily excluded future workers' compensation collateral source payments from the medical tort settlement just as it precludes employer reimbursement for past workers' compensation payments.
- Arnell, California's MICRA: The Need For Legislative Reform (1986) 23 San Diego L.Rev. 171, 199-200 ["As it presently reads" section 3333.1 "allows for the introduction of evidence 'of any amount payable" and includes payments for future medical expenses].)

D. "Payable" As Used In Far Different Statutory Contexts
Sheds No Light On That Term's Meaning Here Given
Section 3333.1's Distinct Purpose.

In the Court of Appeal, plaintiff relied on out-of-state cases and California statutes addressing issues vastly different from MICRA. Plaintiff acknowledged that those authorities "interpret[] 'payable' in other contexts," divorced from section 3333.1's intent and purpose and the overall MICRA statutory scheme. (RB 83-85.) Interpreting "payable" in different statutory schemes, with different purposes and legislative histories, in no way supports narrowly interpreting "payable" in the MICRA legislation context and contravenes the fundamental California statutory construction precept: to effectuate legislative intent and the purpose underlying the particular statute being construed.

None of the cases plaintiff relied on supports limiting "payable" in section 3333.1 to only collateral source payments for *past* damages:

• Rollins v. Pizzarelli (Fla. 2000) 761 So.2d 294. Review of the legislative history for the statute at issue (and a preceding statute) showed that the Florida Legislature had specifically discussed and understood that it was enacting an offset of certain paid and "currently payable" insurance benefits. (Id. at pp. 298-299, original emphasis.) There is no such legislative history here. Nor was the Florida statute enacted to stem the undue growth in judgments where damages for future medical expenses needed to be controlled. Rather, the Florida statute was designed to encourage prompt payment by insurers of certain benefits that were owed.

- Carlsen v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1976) 64 Cal.App.3d 577. Carlsen interpreted the Unemployment Insurance Act ("UIA"), a remedial statute to be accorded "liberal construction" in workers' favor. (Id. at pp. 585-586.) Given its remedial purpose, Carlsen construed the statutory scheme's "unemployment" definition a period for which "no wages are payable" as not including contingent or disputable future claims for wages. (Id. at pp. 583-585.) The future tense interpretation was unreasonable in the particular statutory context as it would obligate an employee to pursue an unliquidated or even speculative claim against his employer before he could qualify for unemployment benefits. (Id. at pp. 585-586.) Carlsen confirmed that "payable" can include the future tense and that what matters is the statutory purpose. (Id. at p. 586.)
- Burkett v. Continental Cas. Co. (1969) 271 Cal.App.2d 360, interpreted a disability insurance policy providing that "the benefit payable shall be 'Less Any Amount Paid or Payable" under workers' compensation. (Id. at p. 361.) Burkett recognized that "payable" had alternative meanings, including both past and future tense. (Id. at p. 362.) Because the "terms of an insurance policy are to be construed strictly against the insurer," Burkett construed "payable" against the insurer to mean the more narrow, past tense, definition that provided greater benefits to the insured. (Ibid.)
- Crowell v. Harvey Inv. Co. (1932) 128 Cal.App. 241, analyzed a statute directing tax payments in two installments, the first being "due and payable" in October and the second being merely "payable" in January. (Id. at p. 245.) Crowell rejected the untenable taxpayer argument that the

omission of "due" from the phrase "due and payable" for the second installment meant that there was no time fixed for the second installment to be paid. (*Ibid*.)

These cases demonstrate that what "payable" means depends on context and statutory purpose.

## E. Projecting Future Collateral Source Payments Is No More Speculative Than Projecting Future Medical Expenses.

In the Court of Appeal, plaintiff argued that his future medical insurance coverage is uncertain and therefore cannot support reducing his future medical damages. (RB 87-88.) The trial court did not rule on that basis. In any event, this Court has already rejected plaintiff's very argument.

In Fein v. Permanente Medical Group, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 165, fn. 21, the plaintiff argued that "he may not be covered by medical insurance in the future" and on appeal "object[ed] to any reduction of future damages on the basis of potential future collateral source benefits." But a defendant isn't required to prove absolutely certain future benefits, only benefits that the plaintiff is "likely to receive." (Ibid.) This is no different than the plaintiff's burden in proving future medical expenses or lost earnings (including fringe benefits, such as health insurance) in the first place. (See CACI Nos. 3903A, 3903C; VI AA 55:1436, 1437 [future lost earnings and future medical expenses recoverable where "reasonably certain"]; Fein, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 153 [plaintiff entitled to recover future lost earnings "likely" to be suffered]; 2 Nates et al., Damages in Tort

Actions (2008) Loss of Time or Earnings, § 10.02[4], p. 10-12 & fn. 41 [lost future earnings include fringe benefits such as health and accident insurance].)

Section 3333.1 allows to the jury to decide how much, if any, collateral benefits to offset against future damages. (*Fein*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at p. 165, fn. 21.) Thus, the jury can account for any uncertainty in future collateral source benefits. The jury, not the court or the plaintiff, gets to judge the reasonable likelihood of future collateral source benefits.

## F. Barring It From Presenting Future Collateral Source Evidence Prejudiced The Hospital.

The trial court *categorically* denied the Hospital the opportunity to present *any* evidence of likely future collateral source payments.

(8 Aug.RT 2701-2706, 2771-2772; 11 Aug.RT 3727, 3905; AOB 14-15.)

The prejudice accordingly must be judged by the case the Hospital might have presented given the opportunity (e.g., the parents' admissions that insurance coverage would continue, expert testimony that continuing collateral source benefits would be available, available insurance-continuation [COBRA] and state-sponsored insurance pool benefits). (See 3 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (4th ed. 2000) Presentation at Trial § 404, p. 493, and cases cited therein [no proof offer required where whole category of evidence excluded]; Ins. Code, § 12700 et seq. [available insurance pool]; *id.*, § 1366.20, et seq [Cal-COBRA].)

The trial court's ruling forced the Hospital to remove any reference to plaintiff's likely receipt of future collateral insurance benefits from its expert's testimony (11 Aug.RT 3727; V AA 41:1265-1290), barred the Hospital from examining plaintiff's parents or presenting other evidence on the subject, and prevented the Hospital from rebutting plaintiff's jury argument that "every penny" of damages would be necessary to pay for plaintiff's future medical care (8 Aug.RT 2805; 12 Aug.RT 4384) – a claim that is false to the extent insurance continues to pay. Past collateral source payments covered all but 19 percent of medical expenses. (9 Aug.RT 3042.)<sup>10</sup> Unenlightened about future collateral sources, the jury found a present value of \$14 million in future medical expenses occurring over 58 years, roughly a present value of \$240,000 per year, versus \$19,000 per year for the first four years, when collateral sources paid and reduced medical expenses by over 80 percent. (X AA 88:2475, 2478.)

The trial court compounded the prejudice, instructing the jury "not [to] consider whether *any* of the parties in this case have insurance" and that the presence of insurance was "totally irrelevant." (12 Aug.RT 4275, emphasis added.)<sup>11</sup> Twice during deliberations the trial court readmonished

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Of plaintiff's \$405,312 in past medical expenses, insurance paid \$171,949 (or 42.4%), healthcare providers discounted \$154,986 (or 38.2%) pursuant to insurance-negotiated agreements, and plaintiff's parents paid or were billed \$78,375.55 (or 19.3%). (9 Aug.RT 3042.)

In the Court of Appeal, plaintiff claimed the Hospital invited error by requesting the jury instruction. (RB 90.) The reporter's transcript shows that the Hospital agreed to the instruction only defensively after the trial court excluded defense future collateral source benefits evidence and only after unsuccessfully reiterating its objection to the prior ruling. (11 Aug.RT 3904 [court responding to the reiteration of the section 3333.1 argument, "that battle is over" and "you lost"]; 11 Aug.RT 3905-3906; Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 202, 212 [invited error "doctrine does not apply when a party, while making the appropriate objections, acquiesces in a judicial determination"]; Park City Services, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.,

the jury not to consider insurance as "the presence or absence of insurance is totally irrelevant." (*Ibid.*; 13 Aug.RT 5102-5103, 5106, 5413-5415.)

\* \* \*

The trial court prejudicially erred in limiting evidence under section 3333.1 to *past* collateral source benefits. That error in and of itself requires that the judgment be reversed and a retrial ordered. Like the causation issue, the section 3333.1 issue is dispositive of this appeal without requiring the setoff issue to be reached.

V.

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